FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/7/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/7/2023 12:17 PM

Supreme Court No. 101781-2 Court of Appeals No. 83487-8-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LESLIE GORDON & FRED GORDON, individually and as wife and husband,

Respondents,

v.

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES-WASHINGTON, d/b/a PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

W. Mitchell Cogdill, WSBA #1950 Mark. P. Giuliano, WSBA #49871 Attorneys for Respondents

Cogdill Nichols Rein Wartelle Andrews 3232 Rockefeller Avenue Everett, Washington 98201 (425) 259-6111

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are Leslie Gordon and Fred Gordon.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request review of the decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review in case number 83487-8-I, which was filed on February 6, 2023. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-12.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals Err in its Application of the Restatement of Torts (Second) §343 Regarding Premises Liability When it Reversed the Trial Court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Underlying Facts

The basic facts in this case are undisputed. On the morning of November 21, 2019, Leslie Gordon drove to work at the Providence medical campus and parked on the top floor (P6) of the parking garage serving the Providence Regional Cancer Partnership (the cancer center).

Between 7:30 and 7:45 am, 57-45 minutes prior to Ms. Gordon's fall, another employee, Katlyn Etchey, arrived on P6 to park her car. CP 487. Upon exiting her vehicle slipped on the icy pavement of the parking garage floor. CP 487-88. Ms. Etchey began walking toward the entrance of the building when she saw a woman slip and fall on ice between the front parking stalls and the building entrance. CP 488. Ms. Etchey went to the woman, received assurances that she was okay, then immediately went to her office in the medical practice building at the campus. CP 488. When she arrived at her office, no later than 7:55 am, Ms. Etchey called Providence security and informed them of the icy parking surface, the woman's fall, and told them to get up there. CP 488.

In response to Ms. Etchey's call, Providence security officer Travis Wise was called on his radio and told to go to the garage because "somebody had slipped", and "they wanted me to... see if it was icy, and if it was, to warn people that there was ice down ... and ... to keep people aware of the danger until

facilities could ... put ice melt down." CP 461. Mr. Wise knew that the ice was specifically located on the top floor, P.6. CP 461. Mr. Wise testified he went to a position where he could make eye contact with people as they drove up the ramp from the floor below. At least three cars drove up the ramp, past Mr. Wise, prior to Ms. Gordon's arrival. CP 465. Mr. Wise testified as these vehicles approached, "I would yell at them in a voice saying, 'Be careful. It's slippery out here. There is ice on the concrete. Be careful when you are getting out of your car." CP 464. When Ms. Gordon arrived, Mr. Wise was still standing at the top of the ramp to intercept her. CP 465. But, according to Mr. Wise, he did not say anything to Ms. Gordon about the ice or anything else when he was in a position to do so. CP 465-66. Instead, he made a motion with his arms extended and palms facing down, which he claims was a signal to slow down. CP 465-67. When asked if he did anything else, Mr. Wise responded that he made eye contact with Ms. Gordon. CP 465. Mr. Wise did not tell Ms.

Gordon where to park or to avoid the area due to ice. CP 465. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Wise heard Ms. Gordon yell and then heard the sound of her body hitting the concrete. CP 466. Mr. Wise recorded the time of the fall as occurring at 8:26 am. CP 548. There were no witnesses to Ms. Gordon's fall. And, as the Court of Appeals found, it is undisputed that Ms. Gordon did not see any ice before she slipped and fell. Opinion at p. 7.

Based on the undisputed facts, Respondents moved for partial summary judgment on the issues of Providence's duty to Ms. Gordon and its breach of that duty. The Honorable Ana Alexander decided the motion, concluding Providence was negligent based on its failure to warn Ms. Gordon specifically about the ice, and entered partial summary judgment in favor of Respondents.

B. Decision by the Court of Appeals

On February 6, 2023, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order granting partial summary judgment in favor of the Gordons, adopting Providence's arguments that a reasonable

juror could conclude (1) Providence did not have enough time after being informed of the icy condition, and (2) Providence responded reasonably under the circumstances by commencing to take action to attempt to remediate the problem. Appendix at 7.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The decision by the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 875 P.2d 621 (1994) and *Iwai v. State Employment Security Department*, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996), and other decisions regarding a landowner's liability for invitee injury caused by a known dangerous condition on that landowner's property. It also presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

- A. The Court of Appeals Erred by Holding Summary Judgment Was Inappropriate to Determine Providence Was Negligent In Its Duty to Warn Invitees of Dangerous Conditions In the Providence Parking Garage.
 - (1) The Restatement Establishes A Set of Choices Available to Landowners to Deal With Dangerous Conditions on Land.

Washington has adopted the Restatement (Second) of
Torts § 343. The Restatement establishes the standard for
property owner liability for injuries to invitees caused by
dangerous conditions on land. It provides a choice system for
property owners to avoid liability for known dangerous
conditions.

There are three possible choices for a landowner who knows of a dangerous condition that will impact invitees. They may either 1) repair the condition, 2) warn of the condition, or 3) both warn and repair, depending on the issues involved in each case. *See, Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 133, *Iwai v. State Employment Security*Department, 129 Wn.2d 84, 96.

Further, cmt. b. to § 343 of the Restatement provides:

..To the invitee the possessor owes not only this duty [reasonable care to disclose dangerous conditions], but also the additional duty to exercise reasonable affirmative care to see that the premises are safe for the reception of the visitor, or at least to ascertain the condition of the land, and to give such warning that the visitor may decide intelligently whether or not to accept the invitation, or may protect himself against the danger if he does accept it.

(Emphasis added).

The salient point of the Restatement to this Petition for Review, is that regardless which option a landowner chooses, repair, warn or both, the action must be performed in a manner that meets the landowner's duty to protect the invitee, and failure to do so is subject to summary judgment determination as to negligence.

(2) Providence Elected to Warn Invitees of the Dangerous Condition in its Parking Garage, However Was Negligent in Doing So.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Providence had actual notice of the dangerous condition at issue in this case.

Appendix at 7. It is also undisputed that Providence sent an employee to proceed immediately to the parking garage and warn people entering the garage of the dangerous icy conditions and in fact warned people coming into the garage prior to Ms. Gordon with verbal communications about the dangerous icy conditions. It is also undisputed that Ms. Gordon did not receive any verbal warning, but at most the Providence employee waived his arms in an up and down manner with palms down and potentially made eye contact with Ms. Gordon.

In its analysis, instead of following the clear standards of the Restatement, the Court of Appeals reached back to *Geise v*. *Lee*, 84 Wn.2d 866, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975), a pre-Restatement case, to frame the issue on appeal as

In short, "[t]o prevail, a plaintiff must prove (1) the landowner had actual or constructive notice of the danger, and (2) the landowner failed within a reasonable time to exercise sensible care in alleviating the situation."

Opinion at p.6.

This standard completely ignores the duty to warn option set forth in the Restatement and replaces it with the outdated analysis that any liability must be determined by the difficulty and timeliness of correcting a dangerous condition. More importantly, it completely ignores the fact Providence chose to warn by immediately sending an employee to warn invitees of the situation.

This case is *not* about a landowner's failure to discover or timely fix a dangerous condition. It is about Providence's failure to provide an adequate warning under the choice it made when the dangerous condition was known to Providence.

When a landowner chooses to warn as an immediate response to a known dangerous condition, the owner must warn in a manner that meets all negligence requirements. If an injury occurs as a result of inadequate warning, the owner cannot avoid liability for the injury by claiming they were not given a

reasonable amount of time to correct the danger that merited the warning.

In addition, the warning must be adequate for **each arriving invitee**. In the instant case, since the warning was
given by an employee standing in the parking area to warn each
arriving invitee, one warning may be adequate for one invitee,
as in the fact specific verbal warning provided to some invitees,
where a different attempt to warn, not including any verbal
element, may not meet the negligence avoidance standard.

Such was the case with Ms. Gordon.

Regardless of any plans Providence may have had to later remedy the situation with ice melt, their first chosen response to the known danger was to warn. The question on summary judgment was if the nature of the warning given to Ms. Gordon was sufficient to prevent Providence's liability for injuries she suffered as a result of the dangerous condition in the parking

garage. The court properly granted summary judgment on that point.

Instead, because the Court of Appeals incorrectly framed the issue and focused its attention on how much time Providence had to discover, and correct the dangerous condition in its garage, it concluded that created a question of fact for a jury.

The Court of Appeals relied on *Maynard v. Sisters of Providence*, 72 Wn. App. 878 (1994). That was a premises liability case in which the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the defendant was reversed on appeal. *Maynard* is an inapt comparison.

First, *Maynard* did not involve a defendant with actual knowledge of a dangerous condition. Instead, the *Maynard* court held that based on four days of low temperatures and precipitation that had been occurring, there was a "permissible inference" of the foreseeability of a dangerous condition that warranted investigation. *Id.* at 883.

That does not reasonably compare to the actual notice of a dangerous condition held by Providence in the instant case.

Then the Court of Appeals in the instant case determined, based on its reading of *Maynard*, "it is for a jury to decide whether, with between 15- and 30-minutes notice, Providence had any reasonable 'capacity' or time to take any remedial measures." Appendix at 8-9. The Court of Appeals went on to conclude that "where the record shows there was no warning and minimal time for remedial measures, summary judgment in favor of a potential victim is generally equally inappropriate." Appendix at 9.

Through this analysis, the Court of Appeals disregarded the warn or remedy options established by the Restatement.

Rather than recognize the undisputed fact Providence knew of the hazard and chose to send an employee to warn of the known dangerous condition prior to trying to remedy the danger, the Court of Appeals ignored the choice established under the

Restatement and iterated by this Court in *Tincani* and *Iwai* supra. The error of the Court of Appeals' decision is evident in its statement.

Finally, it cannot be the law that, unless the danger resulting from ice or snow is fully remediated, there is always "at least" an "additional" duty to warn. (Opinion at p.11).

The Court of Appeals, in adopting this view, quoted only a portion of cmt. b. to the Restatement, ignoring that Section 343 does, in fact, impose such an additional duty. The second paragraph of cmt. b. to the Restatement provides:

As stated in § 342, the possessor owes to a licensee only the duty to exercise reasonable care to disclose to him dangerous conditions which are known to the possessor, and are likely not to be discovered by the licensee. To the invitee the possessor owes not only this duty, but also the additional duty to exercise reasonable affirmative care to see that the premises are safe for the reception of the visitor, or at least to ascertain the condition of the land, and to give such warning that the visitor may decide intelligently whether or not to accept the invitation, or may protect himself against the danger if he does accept it.

(Emphasis added).

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965), cmt. b. This provision of the Restatement--which was adopted and cited with approval by the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals--explains that a landowner does in fact owe an "additional duty" beyond the duty owed to licensees to give a warning that is sufficient so the invitee can make a knowing decision to accept the hazard warned of, and/or to protect himself from the hazard. *See Wiltse v. Albertson's Inc.*, 116 Wn.2d 452, 457 n.3 (1991); *Jarr v. Seeco Construction Co.*, 35 Wn. App. 324, 327 (1983).

The landowner has a duty to both licensees and invitees to disclose dangerous conditions that are known to the landowner. To invitees, the landowner has the *additional* duty to make the premises safe for the invitee's arrival and, if the premises are not safe, to "at least" give a sufficient warning to allow the invitee to protect him or herself.

The Court of Appeals' decision presents an unworkable quandary that elevates the protections owed to licensees over

invitees, even though a landowner's duties to invitees are greater.

Under the Court of Appeals' reasoning, a licensee is entitled to a warning but an invitee is not so long as the landowner has decided, though not started, to take steps to begin repairing a dangerous condition. It cannot be the case that a licensee is entitled to notice of a dangerous condition but an invitee is not.

The Court of Appeals is simply incorrect on this point.

First, if a landowner is aware of a known dangerous condition and is unable to remedy it in a timely manner, there is a duty to warn invitees pursuant to the Restatement and this Court's decisions. Conversely, under the Court of Appeals' reasoning in this case, a landowner could be aware of a dangerous condition and try to repair without warning, thus knowingly put invitees in danger. Creating a specific warning of the hazard to be faced is not an onerous burden compared to the harm that could befall an invitee.

Second, the premise set forth by the Court of Appeals was not involved in Ms. Gordon's claim on summary judgment.

Ms. Gordon did not claim Providence failed to clear up the danger from the ice. Ms. Gordon's claim was that because Providence elected to employ the warn option under the Restatement, Providence failed to provide her an effective warning. Ms. Gordon's claim was based on the Restatement which allows the landowner to meet its duty to invitees by specifically warning of dangerous conditions.

Finally, compare the Court of Appeals' statement of the law above¹, to this Court's explanation of a landowner's duty under the Restatement:

.."reasonable care" imposes on the landowner the duty "to inspect for dangerous conditions, 'followed by such repair, safeguards, or warning as may be reasonably necessary for [the invitees] protection under the circumstances".

¹ Court of Appeals' framing of the issue *supra* at p.8.

Iwai v. State Employment Security Department, 129
Wn.2d 84, 96 (1996), quoting from Ticani v. Inland Empire
Zoological Soc., 124 Wn.2d 121 at 139 (1994) (emphasis added).

Under the Restatement and this Court's standard, it is not, as contemplated by the Court of Appeals, necessary that:

..every landowner at every snow or ice storm would need to place a sign or an employee over every icy patch until every icy patch was fully alleviated, regardless of what other actions the landowner took.

Opinion at p.11-12.

It is, however, the law that if a landowner has actual knowledge of a dangerous condition on his or her land and chooses to warn an invitee of a dangerous condition, the warning must be sufficient under the negligence standards as described in cmt. b. of § 343 of the Restatement. In this case, the Superior Court properly determined as a matter of law, Providence did not meet that standard.

To prevail on a claim that a landowner breached its duty to warn of an unsafe condition, "[a] plaintiff must establish that the defendant had, or should have had, knowledge of the dangerous condition in time to warn the plaintiff of the danger." *Charlton v. Toys R Us—Delaware, Inc.*, 158 Wn. App. 906, 915, 246 P.3d 199 (2010). Or, to state it another way, "[t]he plaintiff must establish that the defendant had, or should have had, knowledge of the dangerous condition in time to remedy the situation before the injury or to warn the plaintiff of the danger." *Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 649, 652, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994) (citing *Brant v. Market Basket Stores, Inc.*, 72 Wn.2d 446, 451-52, 433 P.2d 863 (1967)).

As to the sufficiency of the notice to Providence, there is no basis to submit to the jury the question of whether Providence had any reasonable "capacity" or time to take any remedial measures. That is because it is undisputed that Providence's agent *did* specifically warn some drivers of ice on the ground on top of

the parking garage as the drivers approached the area, but not Ms. Gordon.

The Court of Appeals decision faults Petitioners for not citing caselaw authority on this point, which is puzzling because it is a matter of straightforward reasoning that no reasonable juror could conclude that Providence did not have enough time to warn Ms. Gordon of ice when it warned multiple drivers of ice *prior to Ms. Gordon's arrival*.

This is not "some sort of negligence per se," as the Court of Appeals put it—it is in keeping with the well-established precedent that breach of a duty may be determined as a matter of law "where reasonable minds could not differ in their interpretation of the factual pattern." *Pudmaroff v. Allen*, 138 Wn.2d 55, 67, 977 P.2d 574 (1999); *see also Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999) ("[I]f reasonable minds could not differ, these factual questions may be determined as a matter of law.").

No reasonable juror could possibly conclude Providence did not have the capacity to warn Ms. Gordon. The issue was appropriately resolved on summary judgment.

(3) The Court of Appeals' Decision is Also in Error Because it Eliminates the Duty and Option to Warn Under the Restatement.

The Court of Appeals' decision effectively eliminates the opportunity and duty of a landowner to make the choice to warn invitees of a dangerous condition. Further, the Court of Appeals' decision essentially holds that if a landowner chooses to warn of a dangerous condition, it may do so in a manner that doesn't really protect invitees.

The Court of Appeals decision renders a significant element of the Restatement nugatory. *See Steele v. State ex rel. Gorton*, 85 Wn.2d 585, 590, 537 P.2d 782 (1975) (Proper statutory construction means a statute will not be rendered futile and meaningless); *Clark v. Payne*, 61 Wn.App. 189, 193, 810 P.2d 931 (1991) (A basic rule of statutory construction is that

statutes should be construed so that no portion is superfluous and so strained that absurd or unlikely consequences result.)

The fact it might take time to perform the alternative response to a dangerous condition, i.e., fixing the problem, is irrelevant to the duty to warn when the duty to warn is elected by the property owner and when the landowner has the time to warn, and actually undertook to warn.

In Gordon, the question is not whether Providence acted quickly enough, or what a jury might find was a reasonable response to the knowledge of the dangerous condition, the question is, since Providence chose to warn invitees, did their warning efforts meet the standard to avoid liability for invitee injury. Whatever other action Providence might have chosen to do later does not absolve them of their duty to properly warn when they elected that option, and let invitees subject themselves to the hazard.

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