FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/6/2023 3:13 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1017812

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 83487-8

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

LESLIE GORDON & FRED GORDON, individually and as wife and husband,

Respondents,

v.

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES-WASHINGTON, d/b/a PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CORR CRONIN LLP Steven W. Fogg, WSBA No. 23528 Eric A. Lindberg, WSBA No. 43596 Victoria E. Ainsworth, WSBA No. 49677 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3900 Seattle, Washington 98154-1051 Tel (206) 625-8600 Fax (206) 625-8600 Email: sfogg@corrcronin.com elindberg@corrcronin.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT THAT REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners fail to identify any grounds warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4). Petitioners do not identify a single Washington case that conflicts with Division One's unpublished decision. Nor do Petitioners raise any issue of "substantial public interest" regarding the highly fact-specific inquiry Division One conducted in considering whether factual issues preclude summary judgment. Instead, the Court of Appeals' decision merely reaffirms two basic, fundamental principles of Washington law: (1) breach and proximate cause in a negligence action are factual issues rarely appropriate for resolution on summary judgment and (2) a jury must consider the totality of the evidence in considering whether a defendant breached a duty to exercise reasonable care.

A. Petitioners fail to identify a single Washington case that conflicts with Division One's unpublished decision. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2))

This Court should deny review of Division One's unpublished decision because it does not conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

1. Division One's decision is consistent with well-settled Washington law, including *Tincani*, *Iwai*, and the Restatement.

Petitioners cannot credibly contend that Division One's unpublished decision conflicts with *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 875 P.2d 621 (1994), *Iwai v. State Employment Security Dep't*, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996), or the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 (1965) ("Restatement § 343"). Even a cursory glance at the appellate court's opinion reveals that Division One expressly *relied on* the Restatement, *Tincani*, *Iwai*, and their progeny in reaching its decision here. *See, e.g.*, Opinion 4 (citing *Tincani*), Opinion 5 (quoting *Tincani*), Opinion 5–6 (discussing and quoting Restatement § 343), Opinion 9 (citing *Iwai*), Opinion 10–11 (citing *Tincani*).

Division One correctly applied the Restatement standards governing a landowner's duty of care to an invitee that this Court approved in *Tincani* and *Iwai*:

> [A] landowner is subject to liability for harm caused to his tenants by a condition on the land, if the landowner (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to tenants; (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it; and (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect the tenant against danger.

Opinion 5 (alteration in original) (quoting Curtis v. Lein, 169

Wn.2d 884, 890, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010)). *Curtis* relied on *Mucsi* v. *Graoch Assocs. Ltd. P'ship No. 12*, 144 Wn.2d 847, 855–56, 31 P.3d 684 (2001) in articulating this standard. *Mucsi*, in turn, cited Restatement § 343. In fact, the standard Division One identified is identical in all material respects to the language in Restatement § 343. *See also Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 96 (quoting Restatement § 343).

Expressly relying on *Tincani* and Restatement § 343, Division One further explained:

> In contrast to what a licensee may expect, an invitee 'is . . . entitled to expect that the possessor will exercise reasonable care to make the land safe for his [or her] entry'." Tincani, 124 Wn.2d at 138–39 (alterations in original) (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 cmt. b). "Reasonable care requires the landowner to inspect for dangerous conditions, 'followed by such repair, safeguards, or warning as may be reasonably necessary for [the invitee's] protection under the circumstances." Id. at 139 (alteration in original) (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 cmt. b).

Opinion at 5. See also Iwai, 129 Wn.2d at 96 ("[t]he phrase

'reasonable care' imposes on the landowner the duty to inspect for dangerous conditions, followed by such repair, safeguards, or warning as may be reasonably necessary for [the invitee's] protection under the circumstances'') (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Tincani*, 124 Wn.2d at 139 and Restatement § 343 cmt. b).

Division One then accurately summed up Petitioners' burden on their premises liability claim:

> "In short, '[t]o prevail, a plaintiff must prove (1) the landowner had actual or constructive notice of the danger, and (2) the landowner failed *within a reasonable time to exercise sensible care in alleviating the situation.*"

Opinion at 6 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Mucsi*, 144 Wn.2d at 859) (citing *Geise v. Lee*, 84 Wn.2d 866, 871, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975))). As the Court of Appeals recognized, "[a] jury must determine whether the defendant was negligent . . . *in light of all the existing circumstances*." Opinion 10 (alterations and emphasis in original) (quoting *Maynard v. Sisters of Providence*, 72 Wn. App. 878, 884, 866 P.2d 1272 (1994)).

Taking the totality of the evidence and all reasonable inferences in Providence's favor, Division One correctly

concluded that summary judgment is inappropriate because a jury could find that Providence had exercised sensible care within a reasonable time. For instance, Providence had 15 to 30 minutes' notice before Ms. Gordon fell, during which time it "dispatched employees (a) to assess the situation, (b) to provide warnings as they were able, and (c) to put down rock salt or deicer, which arrived contemporaneously with Gordon's fall." Opinion 7. It is, indeed, "a reasonable inference that [Travis] Wise's waving of his arms was meant to communicate some danger on the road ahead" and "a reasonable jury could conclude Gordon, in slowing down, understood that warning, however imperfect it may have been." Opinion 11. Based on this evidence, "it is for the jury to decide whether, given all the circumstances (including Gordon driving by), that handwaving was a reasonable attempt to warn Gordon, or in fact did warn Gordon, assuming as [the Court] must that Wise is correct that they 'made eye contact' and she understood the meaning of that motion." Opinion 11.

By concluding the jury, not the trial court should "consider whether all of Providence's actions, taken together, or in light of the totality of the evidence, were sensible," and "whether there

was sufficient time for Providence to do any more than it did," Division One's decision is consistent with a fundamental tenant of Washington law: breach and proximate cause are inherently factual inquiries for the jury to resolve based on the totality of the evidence. Opinion 10. See, e.g., Wuthrich v. King County, 185 Wn.2d 19, 27, 366 P.3d 926 (2016) ("Whether the roadway was reasonably safe and whether it was reasonable for the County to take (or not take) any corrective actions are questions of fact that must be answered in light of the totality of the circumstances."); Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 789, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005) ("If the roadway is inherently dangerous or misleading, then the trier of fact must determine the adequacy of the corrective actions under all of the circumstances."); Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 469, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) (material issues of fact as to whether owner/operator of airport breached its duty to invite precluded summary judgment); Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 157 Wn. App. 649, 668, 240 P.3d 162 (2010) (genuine issue of material fact exist as to whether defendant breached its duty to invitee), rev. denied, 171 Wn.2d 1012 (2011); Bordynoski v. Bergner, 97 Wn.2d 335, 341, 644 P.2d 1173 (1982) (agreeing

with the Court of Appeals that, "[c]onsidering the totality of circumstances and viewing the evidence most favorably to" plaintiff as the nonmoving party, trial court erred in directing a verdict that plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law); *Brady v. Whitewater Creek, Inc.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 728, 521 P.3d 236, 249 (2022) (factual issues existed as to whether landlord breached its duty to tenant and whether landlord's alleged breach was the proximate cause of tenant's harm); *see also Brant v. Market Basket Stores, Inc.*, 72 Wn.2d 446, 451, 433 P.2d 446 (1967) ("What is a reasonably safe condition depends upon the nature of the business conducted and the circumstances surrounding the particular situation.") (cited in the Petition at 18).

2. *Geise* does not conflict with *Tincani*, *Iwai*, or the Restatement.

Petitioners attempt to manufacture a conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) by contending that Division One failed to "follow[] the clear standards of the Restatement" and instead "reached back to *Geise v. Lee*, 84 Wn.2d 866, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975), a pre-Restatement case," to improperly "frame the issue on appeal." Petition 8. Petitioners apparently take the position

that a landowner is not entitled to "reasonable time" in which to respond to a dangerous condition if the landowner had knowledge of the condition in time to warn the invitee. *See* Petition 9, 18–19. Division One wisely rejected Petitioners' strained interpretation of *Geise* and the Restatement for several reasons.

First, Petitioners' criticism of Division One's reliance on *Geise*, a "pre-Restatement" case, is puzzling given that the Court of Appeals was quoting *Mucsi*, not *Geise*. It is undisputed that *Mucsi* is a "post-Restatement" case. Regardless, *Geise* remains good law to this day—and Petitioners cite no authority suggesting otherwise.¹

¹ Geise was decided in 1975—a decade after the Restatement (Second) of Torts was published. Even if this Court did not expressly cite to or adopt Section 343 of the Restatement in Geise, "[m]ost appellate cases discussing the duties owed to invitees have recognized Geise as controlling for all landowners." Iwai, 129 Wn.2d at 92. Noting that Ford v. Red Lion Inns, 67 Wn. App. 766, 840 P.2d 198 (1992) "set forth Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 343 & 343A (1965) as the appropriate tests for determining landowner liability to invitees," this Court discussed with approval "Ford's well reasoned reading of Geise." Iwai, 129 Wn.2d at 93, 95. This Court harmonized Geise, Ford, and Tincani and expressly approved of the legal standard articulated in all three cases: "Taken together, Geise, Ford, and Tincani reject the natural accumulation rule and impose Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 343 and 343A as the appropriate standards for determining landowner liability to invitees." Iwai, 129 Wn.2d at 95.

Second, *Mucsi*'s articulation of an invitee's burden on a premises liability claim *is a correct statement of the law*. As discussed above, it is well-settled in Washington that a jury must determine whether a defendant is negligent "in light of all the existing circumstances." *Maynard*, 72 Wn. App. at 884. *See also Tincani*, 124 Wn.2d at 139 (landowner's duty to exercise reasonable care requires repairs, safeguards, or other warnings "*as may be reasonably necessary for [the invitee's] protection under the circumstances*." (alteration in original, emphasis added) (quoting Restatement § 343 cmt. b).

As Division One noted, Petitioners cite no authority supporting their proposition that the timing or duration of the landowner's knowledge is irrelevant when evaluating breach or causation. Opinion 9. Nor could they. As the Restatement, *Tincani*, and *Iwai* all make clear, the duty to safeguard an invitee from a dangerous condition on the land arises *only* upon a landowner's actual or constructive knowledge of the danger. *See Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 96; *Tincani*, 124 Wn.2d at 138; Restatement § 343; Opinion 5–6. Therefore, in order to properly evaluate the reasonableness of a defendant's efforts to alleviate a dangerous condition, the jury must *necessarily* also evaluate the promptness of Providence's actions.²

For instance, a reasonable jury could conclude that a landowner exercised reasonable care by sending an employee to flag incoming drivers and attempt to warn them of icy conditions within minutes of the landowner discovering the ice. A reasonable jury could also conclude that these same efforts were *not* sensible where the landowner was aware of the ice for six hours and could have taken additional measures to alleviate the situation. The only difference between these two verdicts is the *timeliness* of the defendant's actions upon learning of the ice.

Division One applied the correct legal standard in holding that a jury must consider whether Providence "fail[ed] to exercise reasonable care to protect [Ms. Gordon] against danger," *Curtis*, 169 Wn.2d at 890, or, stated another way, "failed within a reasonable time to exercise sensible care in alleviating the situation." *Mucsi*, 144 Wn.2d at 859. *See* Opinion 5–6, 10–11.

² Petitioners' fixation on Providence having "enough time to warn Ms. Gordon" is irrelevant. Petition 19. The factual issue is whether Providence's actions (*i.e.*, attempting to warn drivers while waiting for the de-icer to arrive) were reasonable given the limited time that Providence had between learning of the icy conditions and Ms. Gordon's injury.

3. Petitioners fail to cite any Washington case adopting their strict liability interpretation of a landowner's additional "duty to warn."

The Court of Appeals also prudently rejected Petitioners' strained interpretation of the Restatement that would impose an additional per se "duty to warn." Petitioners' proposed rule (1) has never been adopted by a Washington court, (2) would still result in the same correct decision that Division One reached here, and (3) would be contrary to public policy by making landowners the guarantors of an invitee's safety under a strict liability standard—a proposition that this Court has already expressly rejected. Review is therefore not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

a. No Washington court has adopted Petitioners' strained interpretation of a comment to the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343.

Petitioners propose an amorphous and illogical interpretation of comment b to the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343 that no Washington court has ever adopted.

Ignoring all but a single sentence of comment b, Petitioners contend that landowners owe an invitee an "additional duty" to warn if a landowner cannot "exercise reasonable affirmative care to see that the premises are safe for the reception of the visitor": in other words, unless the landowner can *guarantee* the invitee's safety on the premises, the landowner must *always* warn the invitee of any potential dangers. *See, e.g.,* Petition 7, 14. According to Petitioners, there are therefore <u>only</u> "three possible choices for a landowner who knows of a dangerous condition": "(1) repair the condition, (2) warn of the condition, or (3) both warn and repair, depending on the issues involved in each case." *See* Petition 6 (citing *Tincani*, 124 Wn.2d at 133 and *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 96). This is incorrect.

First, none of the cases Petitioners cite "adopted" a requirement that a landowner owes an "additional duty" to warn an invitee in order to satisfy the duty of reasonable care. Petition 14. Besides generally citing to *Tincani* and *Iwai*,³ Petitioners identify only two cases that purportedly support their position: *Wiltse v. Albertson's Inc.*, 116 Wn.2d 452, 805 P.2d 793 (1991) and *Jarr v. Seeco Constr. Co.*, 35 Wn. App. 324, 327, 666 P.2d 392 (1983). Petition 14. But *Wiltse* and *Jarr* do no more than

³ *Tincani* and *Iwai* merely recite the definition of "reasonable care" contained in comment b to the Restatement § 343. Neither case quotes the language that Petitioners contend gives rise to an additional duty to warn.

quote Restatement § 343 and several of the comments thereto (including comment b). *See Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 457 n. 3; *Jarr*, 35 Wn. App. at 326–37. Neither case even analyzes, let alone adopts, a landowner's "additional" duty to warn.

The issue in *Wiltse* was whether the plaintiff had the burden of proving the landowner had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition—an undisputed element here. *See* 116 Wn.2d at 453. *Jarr* is also inapposite. There, the Court considered whether the defendant was a possessor of the land and, if so, whether the duty of reasonable care extends only to protecting against foreseeable harms within the control of the possessor. *Jarr*, 35 Wn. App. at 329. Petitioners' reliance on *Jarr* is particularly misplaced because the Court in that case held that factual issues precluded summary judgment. *See* 35 Wn. App. at 330 ("the obviousness of the danger, the alleged contributor negligence of Jarr, and the reasonableness of Terrace's conduct at the open house are also questions of ultimate fact for the trier of fact").

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